Submission to the Senate Standing Committee on Economics Inquiry into the exposure draft of the CPRS Legislation

Contents

Introduction

Objectives

The Evidence

Threshold Questions

Scepticism & Risk Management

Global Solution

Global Financial Crisis

Key Issues in the CPRS Legislation

- I. Emission Reduction Targets

- Compensation
 Carbon Price Caps
 Banking & Borrowing Permits
- 5. Unlimited Access to International Abatement Permits

Re-Formulation of Climate Change Policy & Legislation

Conclusions

References

lan T. Dunlop Independent commentator & advisor on Climate Change, Energy & Sustainability Deputy Convenor, Australian Association for the Study of Peak Oil **Director Australia 21**

Submission

Introduction

Emissions trading is one essential building block of a national emissions reduction strategy, if the transition to a low-carbon economy is to be achieve efficiently and at minimum cost. There is nothing wrong, in principle, with the emissions trading framework set out in the Federal Government's draft Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme (CPRS) legislation; in essence it is similar to various proposals under development since 1998 ^{i ii}. Where it falls down is that its key parameters are inconsistent with the stated objectives it is designed to meet.

It is impossible to design a sensible emissions reduction strategy, and a CPRS, without first deciding on the emission reduction targets to be achieved – weak targets imply a very different strategy, and CPRS, from strong targets. The Government's stated objective is for strong action, but the weak targets, compensation and escape clauses in the CPRS legislation imply exactly the opposite.

Accordingly, any meaningful inquiry into the exposure draft must begin with clarity on the objectives to be achieved with the CPRS.

Objectives

The CPRS White Paper states that "As one of the hottest and driest continents on earth, Australia will be one of the nations hardest and fastest hit by climate change if we don't act now. ------- Unmitigated climate change poses a significant threat to Australia's economic security. It challenges our prosperity and risks undermining the viability of many of our coastal, rural and regional communities. It is in our national interest to take strong and decisive action on climate change" ⁱⁱⁱ.

This follows from Australia's signature of the 1992 UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), and subsequent signature and belated ratification of the Kyoto Protocol, the latter designed to be the first step in achieving the ultimate objective of the UNFCCC, namely: "---stabilisation of greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere at a level that would prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system. Such a level should be achieved within a time frame sufficient to allow ecosystems to adapt naturally to climate change, to ensure food production is not threatened and to enable economic development to proceed in a sustainable manner" ^{iv}.

Part I. Section 3.2 of the legislation acknowledges Australia's obligations under the UNFCCC and Kyoto.

Part I. Section 3.3 states that the legislation "is to support the development of an effective global response to climate change".

Part I. Section 3.4 of the legislation then defines Australia's emission reduction targets, namely:

- 60% below 2000 levels by 2050
 - between 5% and 15% below 2000 levels by 2020

Logically, the emission reduction targets must have been set with the intent of meeting the Government's concern with economic security and the national interest as expressed above, and Australia's obligations under the UNFCCC.

Unfortunately, the work of the International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), and more importantly the latest science and empirical evidence becoming available since its 4^{th} Assessment Report was published in 2007 ^v, is indicating that, on the balance of probabilities, the targets in Section 3.4 will not meet either our economic security needs or our UNFCCC obligations to avoid dangerous climate change in a timely manner. These targets are not in accord with the national interest.

As such, the basis upon which the CPRS legislation is established is entirely inappropriate to meet the stated objectives.

The Evidence

The fatal flaw with the CPRS draft legislation, and the White Paper from which it derives, is that it is based on scientific information which pre-dates the 2007 IPCC Assessment Report, a report which is itself based on information up to 5 years old. The latest science indicates that we now run a rapidly increasing risk of sudden and total failure of some part of the climatic system, from which recovery may be impossible – in short, a risk of catastrophe which may seriously damage society as we know it.

The evidence, inter alia, is as follows:

- Rapid summer melt of Arctic sea ice, far greater than IPCC projections
- Accelerating growth in human carbon emissions, above worst IPCC projections
- Decline in natural carbon sinks
- Large increase in projected sea level rise
- · Increased response to climate forcings, hence potentially greater temperature increases
- Potential tipping point for loss of ice sheets lower than expected.
- Increased ocean acidification
- · Initial indications of Arctic permafrost and seabed methane hydrate emissions

Political and corporate leaders, nationally and globally, now claim to have crossed the threshold in accepting that climate change is serious and requires urgent action, this being one of the main planks of the Federal Government's 2007 electoral success, as well as current Opposition policy.

The Garnaut Review^{vi}, to its credit, went far further than any other Australian study in acknowledging the dangers of extreme outcomes, particularly for Australia, and the looming risk of climatic tipping points. International leaders are issuing similar warnings^{vii viii ix}. Intelligence communities worldwide are factoring the implications of climate change, combined with energy security, into their strategic assessments^{x xi xii}. Medical authorities are planning for the public health impact that climate change will bring^{xiv}. Leading international organisations are increasingly attempting to quantify the probabilities of catastrophic climate change^{xv xvi xvii}, no longer characterising it as high impact-low probability, but now with increasingly higher probability of occurrence.

In particular, the bulk of the world scientific community is re-iterating ever more urgently the need for rapid action^{xviii} xix xx xxi</sup>, most recently that the target for atmospheric carbon concentrations has to be reduced to less than 300ppm CO₂ if dangerous climate change is to be avoided^{xxii} xxiii,</sup> rather than the 450-550ppm CO₂e range on which current policy is based. These concerns have been given greater weight in the last two weeks by the key messages from the conference of global climate scientists in Copenhagen (10-12th March 2009), stating, inter alia:

"Recent observations confirm — the worst case IPCC scenarios are being realised. For many key parameters, the climate system is already moving beyond the bounds of natural variability within which our society and economy have developed and thrived. — There is a significant risk that many of the trends will accelerate, leading to an increasing risk of abrupt or irreversible climatic shifts" xxiv.

The Chief Scientist for Australia, Professor Penny Sackett, was an attendee at that conference. Speaking subsequently to the "Science Meets Parliament" dinner at Parliament House, Canberra, on 17th March 2009, she stated:

"The newest (climate change) science is crucial because some elements of the global climate are now changing at a rate considerably faster than previously thought. — When world leaders meet in Copenhagen in December (2009) — if they do not act, and we do not act, and act quickly and decisively, the effects will be devastating" XXV

Threshold Questions

Both Government and Opposition in Australia will be, or should be, well aware of this rapidly evolving science and the risks it represents. In the light of the overwhelming concern expressed by responsible leaders, scientists and, in particular, the community at large, this inquiry must answer the following questions:

- why is Australian policy on climate change, and the CPRS legislation, not structured to minimise the risk to the Australian community from these potential climatic impacts?.
- why are parliamentarians not recognising that the risks we now run from climate change put this issue above normal party politics?.
- why are parliamentarians not accepting that their first priority, and fiduciary responsibility, should be to address, collectively, major threats to national security?.

Climate change and the related issues of peak oil and energy security are arguably the greatest threats to national security Australia will face in the next decades, with potentially catastrophic implications. The legitimacy of any parliamentary system depends on its preparedness to acknowledge these realities and take the urgent action required.

Climate change is not a normal political issue. It cannot be addressed by traditional political arbitrage between competing ambit claims, in the manner which has led to the current draft legislation. It has to be recognised that this problem is bigger than any political party, or vested interests, and it will only be solved by emergency

bi-partisan cooperation. In the light of current risks, policy must now be dictated by the latest, considered science, not by incremental change to business-as-usual and the art of the politically possible.

Scepticism & Risk Management

A frequent response to the urgency expressed above is scepticism, firstly that the climate is in fact warming at all, secondly whether warming, if it is occurring, is due to human rather than natural causes, and thirdly, if the problem is so urgent, that we can do anything about it.

The change currently occurring is probably due to both natural and human causes - we will not know the real answer on the relative contributions for decades to come which is why the science must continue to probe for better understanding and it is right to be sceptical of any absolutist views.

However, scepticism works both ways, and denial is not scepticism. The denialists have claimed the high ground for the last two decades and the scientists of the IPCC, and others, have been overly cautious in understandably not wanting to be too alarmist until they had overwhelming evidence of the climatic changes which are occurring. In the process, they have almost certainly underestimated the climatic impact we face. Unfortunately if we wait for certainty, the lag effects of increasing carbon dioxide concentrations mean we probably will lose the flexibility to do anything about the potential climate impact, whereas at present solutions are within our grasp provided we take resolute action.

So we have a classic case of risk management, or more accurately, the management of uncertainty. We must make decisions in the absence of certainty. The science is now indicating that on a risk basis there is an overwhelming case for emergency action; in particular because this is not conventional operational risk management - we are faced with potentially catastrophic, irreversible outcomes, nationally and globally.

History suggests that the existing political and corporate approach to climate change policy formulation is incapable of addressing these risks in the time required. From a prudent risk management perspective, we should have acted long ago, but vested interests and political myopia prevented sensible precautionary steps being taken. The result has already been to impose substantial additional costs and hardship on the Australian community, necessitating an emergency response from now on if the worst impacts are to be avoided.

Policy and its associated legislation must now be re-thought with catastrophic risk management as the primary focus.

Global Solution

Australia has spent the last decade avoiding action on climate change, arguing inter alia that this is a global problem which requires a global solution, and that any action Australia took in isolation would be meaningless.

In a narrow sense, this view is correct on both counts; a global solution is essential, and Australia's emissions are small in relation to the global total, albeit our emissions are similar to most large European countries and on a per capita basis amongst the highest in the world. But such negativity exacerbated the "free rider" problem, where no country was prepared to show real leadership, in the hope another would do so. The net result has been minimal progress globally in addressing the problem, an outcome for which Australia bears its share of responsibility, and is beginning to count the cost.

The world is now waking up to the risks we face, not least because of the escalating number of extreme weather events. As a result, rapid global progress in addressing climate change is a serious prospect, with both developed and developing country involvement. This entirely changes the context on which many of the worst provisions of the CPRS legislation, such as compensation to Emission-Intensive, Trade-Exposed industries (EITE industries) and domestic high-emitting industries, has been justified.

However, progress will still not happen without real leadership, particularly from the developed world. Political and corporate leaders continue to emphasise the need for the developing world to join in the emissions reduction task as a pre-condition for Australia taking strong, early action. But no serious initiatives to encourage the developing world to do so have been put forward, either here or overseas. Little wonder that Chinese and Indian leaders at the July 2008 G8 Summit, and since, have been dismissive of the developed world's emission reduction commitments^{xxvi}.

It is in Australia's national interest to contribute to that leadership, but the weak parameters of the current CPRS legislation will undermine our leadership credibility.

Global Financial Crisis

Much is made by established interests of the costs and problems associated with restructuring our economy on to a low-carbon footing and the dangers of doing so in the midst of the Global Financial Crisis (GFC). Lobby groups and corporate players urge that action on climate change, particularly the early introduction of the CPRS, should be delayed to avoid additional cost imposts and burdens at a time of economic downturn.

These self-same groups also argued against action throughout the last 15 years of economic growth, on the grounds that nothing should be done to undermine the benefits accruing from our traditional competitive advantage, built around high-carbon coal consumption and exports. That competitive advantage is rapidly being eroded as global attitudes toward high-carbon products change. Complacency over the years of economic growth has stifled innovation in moving to a low-carbon economy; that will continue if the introduction of an effective CPRS is delayed, to our considerable cost.

Fortunately the GFC is removing many of the "sacred cows" which have historically prevented action on climate change. We now have a unique opportunity to re-structure the economy on to a low-carbon footing in a manner which has proved impossible in times of normal growth, in the process providing a sustainable path out of recession. The opportunity should not be wasted. The low-carbon solutions we must adopt offer far greater investment and job creation opportunities than propping up our traditional high-carbon economy xxviii Xxviii

More stringent emission reduction targets imply a massive nation-building investment, both public and private, to re-establish our economy on a sustainable basis, which even before the recent deepening of the GFC, would have left minimal capacity to fund the compensation promised to high emitters. In deteriorating financial circumstances it is unthinkable that such compensation should be entertained. There was never any justification for it, either economically or as a sop to established vested interest, as clearly demonstrated by similar mistakes made in implementing the EU emissions trading scheme. In circumstances where we risk catastrophic failure, it would be utterly irresponsible. Similarly, the argument for special protection for EITE industries during the transition to global carbon pricing has no validity in a world facing catastrophic climatic impact. No carbon-intensive industry is realistically going to move to a region without carbon constraints, as constraints will inevitably be imposed err long, and concerns over carbon leakage are overblown.

Corporately, in contrast to the stated public rhetoric of numerous industry sectors to be active players in meeting the climate challenge, the entire debate is about rent-seeking - compensation, decelerating the introduction of any climate change response, and government support for offsetting emissions technology research^{xxix}, despite the fact that major corporates have been well aware of the likely introduction of carbon pricing for at least two decades. There is minimal discussion about action and solutions, particularly the enormous business opportunities they present. High carbon emitters, such as the coal industry, whilst publicly accepting that climate change must be addressed, demand the right to continued expansion on the premise that carbon sequestration will solve the emission problem in due course. Given that this technology is 10-20 years away from large-scale commercial application, which even then is not guaranteed, and that science is suggesting we are already in the zone of dangerous climate change, there is no justification for expanding unconstrained carbon emissions in the interim, other than short-term commercial cynicism in total disregard of the consequences. Arguments that "if we do not supply coal, others will, and of poorer quality with worse environmental implications" no longer have credibility in a world facing the risk of catastrophic failure. All coal expansion must be halted pending the availability of safe carbon sequestration technology.

Because climate change response has such widespread implications for established high-carbon vested interests, most of our political and corporate leaders remain like rabbits transfixed in the headlights, incapable of changing direction even when about to be flattened, literally and metaphorically speaking. If Australia is to develop a competitive low-carbon economy, new thinking is required.

Key Issues in the CPRS Legislation

Set against the above background, there must be fundamental change to the CPRS legislation if it is to adequately contribute to managing the escalating risks of climate change. Above all, it must encourage rather than hinder rapid adjustment and innovation within the economy. Key issues are as follows:

I. Emission Reduction Targets

In the face of catastrophic risk, emission reduction targets should be based on the latest, considered, science, not on a political view of the art-of-the-possible. The target for stabilisation of global atmospheric carbon to avoid catastrophic consequences and maintain a safe climate is now a concentration of less than 300ppm CO_2 , not the outdated 450-550ppm CO_2e on which current legislation is based. This means emission reductions for Australia must be in the range 45-50% by 2020 and almost complete decarbonisation by 2050, relative to 2000 levels, rather than the 5-15% by 2020 and 60% by 2050 currently proposed.

Many will dismiss these targets as unattainable given that current concentrations are 385ppm CO_2 ; it will require not only the rapid curtailment of emissions, but the re-absorption of some carbon already in the atmosphere. We have the technology to achieve this and the targets are only unattainable when viewed with a business-as-usual mindset. When real emergencies loom then remarkable change is possible.

Solutions should be built around the CPRS, but emissions trading alone is not enough. Given the size and speed of the change required, it must be complemented with regulatory initiatives and other incentives to accelerate energy efficiency, conservation and alternative energy supply, improve building codes, improve vehicle and aviation emission standards, personal carbon trading opportunities etc. This does not mean picking winners, but setting the right framework for rapid change.

There has been much, valid, criticism of the CPRS legislation on the grounds that it effectively discourages individual efforts to reduce emissions. If stringent targets are introduced as proposed, this objection falls away as all possible reduction options will be in demand to meet the national targets. This will engender substantial personal effort and the desired behavioural change.

2. Compensation

All permits should be auctioned and no compensation should be paid to high-emitting industries. Public funding should encourage a viable future, not prop up an unsustainable past, particularly when that funding is going to be in short supply. There is no justification for compensation to EITE industries, or domestic high-emitters, in the emergency situation we now face. The world will be demanding low-carbon product, which will be a source of competitive advantage.

The LNG industry in particular, in an era of peaking oil supply, will have no difficulty in absorbing carbon pricing without detriment to its global competitive position.

3. Carbon Price Caps

There should be no transitional cap on the price of emission permits.

4. Banking & Borrowing Permits

Similarily, the ability to bank and borrow permits for/from future years should be limited

5. Unlimited Access to International Abatement Permits

Whilst international permit trading is desirable in the longer term, initially the ability to trade should be limited to ensure a strong stimulus is given to emission reduction innovation domestically.

Re-Formulation of Climate Change Policy and Legislation

Current attitudes are inconsistent with a world confronting the risk of catastrophic failure from climate change, and indeed with the public rhetoric of the key players themselves. A fundamental change in the formulation of climate change policy and legislation is required if catastrophic consequences really are to be avoided, rather than just lip-service paid to the principle, along the following lines:

1. The philosophy of incremental change from "business-as-usual" is not tenable. This must be replaced with a normative view of the targets required to avoid catastrophic consequences, based on the latest, considered, science. Action is then determined by the imperative to achieve the target, not by incremental, art-of-the-possible, change from business-as-usual. This will involve both mitigation – avoiding the unmanageable, and adaptation – managing the unavoidable.

The target for stabilisation of atmospheric carbon to avoid dangerous consequences is now a concentration of less than 300ppm CO_2 . Our objective must be to reach that target as rapidly as possible.

When real emergencies loom, as at present, then rapid change is possible, but only with a paradigm shift in thinking. There are numerous historic precedents, for example national mobilisations pre-WW2, the Marshall Plan for the reconstruction of post-war Europe, the Apollo Project etc^{xxx}.

- 2. Such a paradigm shift in thinking must now occur, to regard the climate change challenge as a genuine global emergency, to be addressed with a global emergency response. This is not extremist nonsense, but a call echoed by an increasing numbers of world leaders as the science is better understood.
- **3.** Climate change, and its potential to trigger catastrophic failure, must be thought of differently from the conventional economics, risk assessment and cost benefit analysis which have dictated policy thus far. The irreversible climate change tipping point scenarios now being seriously articulated by leading scientists require that we base our response far more on moral and ethical considerations than on quantitative economics. Under these circumstances, we should be prepared to pay a great deal to

maintain societal, environmental and economic flexibility for both current and future generations. Economic analysis is undoubtedly valuable in charting the most efficient pathway to reach the targets, but it should not be the prime consideration in determining the targets themselves. They must be set based on the latest science and the moral and ethical implications of that scientific opinion.

It is increasingly clear that the existing economic system is broken. Rather than being paralysed by the prospect of having to move away from conventional economic and business concepts, we should recognise that we now have a unique opportunity to establish our society and economy on a genuinely sustainable footing.

The potential for catastrophe also requires the creation of a margin of safety, or insurance, against its occurrence. This is particularly so when, as with climate change, the immediacy of the problem is not obvious. Carbon emissions remain in the atmosphere for decades. We have already seen a warming of around 0.8° C relative to pre-industrial times, with a further 0.6° C being inevitable as a result of the lag effect of historic emissions. However non-linear climatic responses are already evident at current levels of warming, with the potential to trigger tipping points far earlier than previously suggested (eg Arctic sea ice melt).

A margin of safety can be "purchased" by the use of innovative scenario and real option techniques to maintain flexibility, approaches which are not part of current policy formulation^{xxxi}. Most importantly, sensible risk management, given climate change lag and the escalating probability of catastrophic impact, demands early and rapid action to curtail emissions, not the gradual incremental response now being advocated.

- 4. There is a need for genuine global leadership. Current responses reflect the dominance of managerialism an emphasis on optimising the conventional political and corporate paradigms by incremental change, rather than adopting the fundamentally different normative paradigm needed to contend with the potential for catastrophic failure. In practical terms, genuine leadership means committing today to rapid, deep emission reductions, and actively promoting concrete proposals to involve the developing world. For example via the Contraction and Convergence concepts mooted in the Garnaut Report and before, but well in advance of the UNFCCC 2009 Copenhagen meetings. The conditional approach, where Australia's emission reduction task is made dependent upon other countries undertakings, as recommended by both business, government and Garnaut, guarantees failure. A nexus-breaker is urgently needed, and Australia is ideally placed to provide the leadership it implies, with the potential for considerable national benefit.
- 5. It must be acknowledged that climate change, though difficult, is only one of a number of critical, inter-related, issues now confronting the global community, as a result of population pressures and economic growth, which threaten the sustainability of humanity as we know it. The immediate pressure point is the convergence of climate change with the peaking of global oil supply, water and food shortages and the financial crisis.

Rather than viewing these issues separately in individual "silos" as at present, an integrated policy approach is essential if realistic solutions are to be implemented^{xxxii}. For example, peak oil estimates suggest that, due to declining production from existing oil reservoirs and limited potential for new discoveries, even at high oil prices, global oil supply may reduce by 25-50% by 2030, depending on the depth and breadth of the current recession, raising major questions as to who receives the available oil and our ability to make rapid substitution to meet any shortfall ^{xxxii} xxiv xxiv.

Australia is particularly exposed in this regard, with only around 50% oil self-sufficiency. Thus we may well be attempting to transform our society to a low-carbon footing in the face of acute oil shortages; given our dependence on oil, early planning for this eventuality is essential. We will not be able to fall back on more extensive use of our coal resources in the absence of safe carbon sequestration technology^{xxxvi}, and that is unlikely to be available.

The International Energy Agency (IEA), at the behest of the G8, focused on the integrated climate change/energy security challenge in their 2008 World Energy Outlook released in November 2008, issuing a clear warning that current practices are unsustainable, needing "nothing short of an energy revolution" ^{xxxvii}. This analysis is a major break with the IEA's past unfounded optimism. Whilst still overly optimistic on oil supply, it gives strong support to the above arguments and negates the claim for oil and gas industry compensation for carbon pricing.

6. There needs to be an honest articulation of the catastrophic risks and the integrated sustainability challenge we now face, with extensive community education to develop the platform for commitment to the major changes ahead, albeit community thinking is in many respects more advanced than political or corporate attitudes to these issues. This must include a more mature and responsible political approach, as catastrophic risk cannot be handled realistically with current adversarial attitudes.

Conclusions

The Garnaut Review emphasises that Australia, as a hot dry country surrounded by less robust developing countries, is more exposed than other developed countries to the risks of anthropogenic climate change. As the science evolves and it becomes clear that the risk of catastrophic climate change is growing rapidly, Australia becomes even more exposed. This implies that Australia has every reason to take genuine leadership in triggering global initiatives to avoid catastrophic consequences, for which the Federal Government was given a mandate at the 2007 election. This will not be achieved by the incremental policy formulations currently being proposed.

Recent parliamentary and corporate debate on climate change policy is reminiscent of a speech given by Winston Churchill to the British House of Commons in November 1936 at the height of the appearsement years:

"They go on in strange paradox, decided only to be undecided, resolved to be irresolute, adamant for drift, solid for fluidity, all-powerful to be impotent.....Owing to past neglect, in the face of the plainest warnings, we have now entered upon a period of great danger..... The era of procrastination, of half-measures, of soothing and baffling expedients, of delays, is coming to a close. In it's place we are entering a period of consequences..... We cannot avoid this period, we are in it now....."

The Australian community has a right to expect more from its parliamentarians and corporate leaders when faced with arguably the greatest challenge in its history. There is an urgent need for a bi-partisan emergency approach and a rapid re-formulation of policy and legislation as suggested.

Most importantly, the latest considered scientific evidence must be accepted as the basis for policy formulation, both nationally and globally, particularly for discussions at the December 2009 Copenhagen UNFCCC Conference on Climate Change.

References

ⁱⁱⁱ Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme, "Australia's Low Pollution Future", White Paper, Volume 1, December 2008,P xv

^v International Panel on Climate Change, 4th Assessment Report, 2007, http://www.ipcc.ch/ipccreports/ar4-syr.htm

^{vi} The Garnaut Review of Climate Change, Final Report, http://www.garnautreview.org.au/index.htm

^{ix} "World leaders need to take action on the energy crisis that is taking shape before our eyes.---We need to act before crisis turns into catastrophe.", Mohamed El Baradei, Director General, International Atomic Energy Agency, Financial Times, London, 24th July 2008

* "National Security and Climate Change", CNA Corporation, 2007: http://securityandclimate.cna.org/report/SecurityandClimate_Final.pdf
*i "National Security Implications of Global Climate Change to 2030", Chairman, US National Intelligence Council, June 2008: http://www.dni.gov/testimonies/20080625_testimony.pdf

http://interactive.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/documents/security/national_security_strategy.pdf

xiii "Global Trends 2025", US National Intelligence Council, November 2008: http://www.dni.gov/nic/NIC_2025_project.html

- xiv "Global Climate Change Looming as Health Risk Factor No. I?", A.J.McMichael, ANU, Canberra, August 2008
- xv "Global Risks 2008", World Economic Forum, January 2008, http://www.weforum.org/pdf/globalrisk/report2008.pdf
- xvi "Global Risks 2009", World Economic Forum, January 2009, http://www.weforum.org/pdf/globalrisk/2009.pdf

^{xvii} "Shaping an Opportunity Out of Crisis", World Economic Forum Global Agenda Council on Climate Change, January 2009, http://www.undp.org/climatechange/docs/GACmessage.pdf

^{xviii} "IPS: So peaking at 450ppm is a good thing? DK: It is probably the best we could hope to do. Even at 450 we have less than a 50% chance of keeping the global average temperature increase to less than 2° C. We've already increased 0.8° C and seen many impacts, we still have 1.2° C to go. There is also a 20% chance at 450ppm temperatures will exceed 3.7° C, a dangerous level of climate change. I'd

ⁱ National Emissions Trading, Discussion Papers 1-4, Australian Greenhouse Office, March 1999.

ⁱⁱ Report of the Prime Ministerial Task Group on Emissions Trading, Dept. of Prime Minister & Cabinet, May 2007

^{iv} United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 1992, Article 2., Objective

vⁱⁱ "This is an emergency and for emergency situations we need emergency action", Ban Ki-Moon, Un Secretary General, 7th November 2007

^{**** &}quot; --- putting these two things together, the short term and medium term security of our oil markets, plus the climate change consequences of this energy use, my message is that, if we don't do anything very quickly, and in a bold manner, the wheels may fall off. Our energy system's wheels may fall off ------ within the next seven years", Fatih Birol, Chief Economist, International Energy Agency, 7th November 2007

^{xii} "The National Security Strategy of the United Kingdom", Cabinet Office, March 2008:

^{xxi} "Convincing the skeptics", John P Holdren, Professor Kennedy School of Government, Director Woods Hole Research Center, President American Association for the Advancement of Science, Science Advisor to President Barack Obama, International Herald Tribune, 4th August 2008: http://www.iht.com/articles/2008/08/04/opinion/edholdren.php

^{xxii} "Target Atmospheric CO₂: Where Should Humanity Aim?", Hansen, Sato, Kharecha et al, NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies, February 2008: http://pubs.giss.nasa.gov/docs/2008/2008_Hansen_etal.pdf

^{xxiii} Professor John Schellnhuber, Director, Potsdam Institute, The Guardian, 15th September 2008,

http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2008/sep/15/climatechange.carbonemissions

xxiv Climate Change Global Risks, Challenges & Decisions Conference, Copenhagen 10-12th March 2009:

http://climatecongress.ku.dk/newsroom/congress_key_messages/

^{xxx} "Engaging in a Changing Climate", Professor Penny Sackett, Chief Scientist for Australia, Parliament House Canberra, 17th March 2009: http://www.chiefscientist.gov.au/media/science-and-parliament.pdf

xxvi G8 meeting, Hokkaido, Japan 9th July 2008, http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2008/jul/09/3

- xxvii: Growing the Green Collar Economy", CSIRO, ACF, Dusseldorp Skills Forum, June 2008: <u>http://www.dsf.org.au/papers/204.htm</u>
- xxviii "The Business Case for Early Action", Australian Business Roundtable on Climate Change, April 2006:

http://www.businessroundtable.com.au/pdf/F078-RT-WS.pdf

xxix "Modelling Success – Designing an ETS That Works", Business Council of Australia, August 2008

xxx "Climate Code Red", Philip Sutton & David Spratt, July 2008, http://www.climatecodered.net/index.html

xxxi "Scenarios, Real Options and Integrated Risk Management", K.D.Miller & H.G.Waller, Long Range Planning 36, 2003, P93-107

xxxii "Climate Change and Peak Oil – an integrated policy", Ian T. Dunlop, Submission to the Garnaut Review, April 2008:

http://www.garnautreview.org.au/CA25734E0016A131/WebObj/D0852513GeneralSubmission-

lanDunlop/\$File/D08%2052513%20%20General%20Submission%20-%20Ian%20Dunlop.pdf

xxxiii Association for the Study of Peak Oil, 2008 Base Case, http://www.aspo-australia.org.au/

xxxiv "Crude Oil – The Supply Outlook", Energy Watch Group, October 2007, http://www.energywatchgroup.org/Oilreport.32+M5d637b1e38d.0.html

^{x00} "Peak Oil – catalyst for a resilient, sustainable society", Ian T. Dunlop, Brighter Prospects – Enhancing the Resilience of Australia, Australia 21, February 2009: http://www.australia21.org.au/pdf/A21%20Brighter%20Prospects%20Report.pdf

xxxxii "Implications of "Peak Oil" for Atmospheric CO₂ and Climate, P.A.Kharecha & J.E.Hansen, NASA Goddard Institute for Space Studies, March 2008

xxxvii World Energy Outlook 2008, International Energy Agency, Paris,

"The world's energy system is at a crossroads. Current global trends in energy supply and consumption are patently unsustainable – environmentally, economically, socially. But that can – and must- be altered; *there's still time to change the road we're on.* It is not an exaggeration to claim that the future of human prosperity depends on how successful we tackle the two central challenges facing us today: securing the supply of reliable and affordable energy; and effecting a rapid transformation to a low-carbon, efficient and environmentally benign system of energy supply. What is needed is nothing short of an energy revolution."

http://www.worldenergyoutlook.org/

much prefer to be at 350ppm where there is a very low risk", Sir David King (formerly Chief Scientific Advisor, UK Government), interview with Inter Press Service (IPS), Barcelona, 22 July 2008: http://ipsnews.net/news.asp?idnews=43272

xix"We are on our way to a de-stabilisation of the world climate that has advanced much further than most people or their governments realize", Professor John Schellnhuber, Director, Potsdam Institute, 29th December 2008: http://www.dwworld de/dw/article/0.3907790.00 html

^{** &}quot;Joint National Science Academies Statement on Climate Change", G8+5 Countries, June 2008:

http://www.insaindia.org/pdf/Climate 05.08 W.pdf